Case No. 2023-1059

Supreme Court of the State of Phio

LOOK AHEAD AMERICA,

and

MERRY LYNNE RINI,

Plaintiffs-Appellants,

v.

STARK COUNTY BOARD OF ELECTIONS, et al.,

Defendants-Appellees.

Look Ahead America, et al. v. Stark County Board of Elections, et al., Stark County Court of Appeals, Fifth Appellate District Case No. 2022-CA-00152

APPELLANTS' MERIT BRIEF

Counsel for Appellants Look Ahead America and Merry Lynne Rini:

Curt C. Hartman (0064242)
The Law Firm of Curt C. Hartman 7394 Ridgepoint Drive, Suite 8
Cincinnati, Ohio 45230
(513) 379-2923
hartmanlawfirm@fuse.net

I. STATEMENT OF FACTS

At a meeting held on December 9, 2020, the STARK COUNTY BOARD OF ELECTIONS considered, *inter alia*, whether to transmit to the Stark County Board of County Commissioners a recommendation for the purchase of new voting equipment. *Trial Court Docket, Trial Transcript (T.d.108), Exhibit 24*. In advance of that meeting and based upon proposals that had already been submitted by prospective vendors, staff for the BOARD recommended in favor of adopting the proposal tendered by Dominion Voting Systems. *Trial Court Docket, Trial Transcript (T.d.108), at 50:11-52:13 & Exhibit 23*.

During the course of the meeting on December 9, 2020, the members of the BOARD met in executive session wherein the motion to hold the executive session declared the purpose thereof was "to discuss the purchase of property for public purposes" even though the proposals from potential vendors were already a matter of public record. *Trial Court Docket, Trial Transcript (T.d.108), Exhibit 5.* Immediately upon exiting that executive session, the BOARD formally adopted the use of voting equipment from Dominion consistent with the staff recommendation, though, within the motion (and with no public discussion or explanation), the

BOARD also included an additional scanner above and beyond that recommended by staff.¹

Trial Court Docket, Trial Transcript (T.d.108), Exhibit 5.

Following the action of the BOARD in voting to recommend Dominion equipment, that decision was then transmitted to the Board of County Commissioners. *Trial Court Docket, Trial Transcript (T.d.108), at 112:9-112:21.* However, a dispute over this selection ensued between the BOARD and the County Commissioners. *See State ex rel. Stark Cty. Bd. of Elec. v. Stark Cty. Bd. of Comm'rs*, 165 Ohio St. 3d 201, 177 N.E.3d 232, 2021-Ohio-1783 ¶5 ("[s]oon after the December 9 meeting, it became apparent that the elections board and the commissioners disagreed about the significance of the board's vote"); *see generally Trial Court Docket, Trial Transcript (T.d.108), Exhibit 32 ¶¶42-54.*

At the next meeting of the BOARD, *i.e.*, on January 6, 2021, the members convened in executive session again for the stated purpose "to discuss the purchase of property for public purposes", even though the BOARD's official action concerning the adoption of the voting equipment already occurred at the meeting of December 9, 2020. *Trial Transcript, Exhibit* 7. Immediately upon exiting this 36-minute executive session, the chairman of the BOARD made the following public statement, setting forth certain *faits accomplis* on behalf of the BOARD:

We're back on the record from an executive session regarding property for public purposes, and we've *discussed and revisited our decision* with respect to Dominion Voting Systems. We've *considered the claims* that have been made against them, which we've determined to be false in 99.9% of the claims. And we

The trial court precluded and the Fifth District affirmed, as irrelevant, any inquiry or cross-examination concerning, *inter alia*: (i) when the staff recommendation was actually presented to the BOARD; (ii) whether the staff recommendation was ever presented or discussed during a public session of a meeting; and (iii) when the BOARD actually considered, discussed, or decided to add one additional scanner above and beyond that recommended by staff. *Trial Court Docket, Trial Transcript (T.d.108), at 53:23 – 54:5 & 55:6-55:12*.

stand by our decision for the adoption of the Dominion Voting System; to be in touch with the county commissioners.

Trial Court Docket, Trial Transcript (T.d.108), Exhibits 8 & 35 (emphases added); see also Trial Court Docket, Trial Transcript (T.d.108), Exhibit 7. Yet, a review of the minutes and the audio recording from that meeting, see Trial Court Docket, Trial Transcript (T.d.108), Exhibits 7, 8 & 35, confirm that there was no public discussion or debate by the Board Members on any of these topics nor any public motion, vote, or consensus on the actual determinations made by the BOARD as announced by the chairman; instead, the chairman simply announced that the BOARD had already made these specific determinations and decisions as faits accomplis.²

At the next regular meeting of the BOARD on February 9, 2021, the members met in yet another executive session for the same declared purpose, *i.e.*, "to discuss the purchase of property for public purposes". *Trial Court Docket, Trial Transcript (T.d.108), Exhibit 11.* Again, immediately upon exiting this executive session, there was no public discussion or debate amongst the Board Members nor any motion relating to the purchase of property; instead, the chairman of the BOARD made yet another public pronouncement of *faits accomplis*, this time that "[t]he Board is directing staff to contact the County Commissioners for a firm date as to

The trial court precluded and the Fifth District affirmed, as irrelevant, any inquiry or cross-examination concerning whether any of the subjects of this public declaration by the chairman were actually discussed or, decided in executive session, including, *inter alia*: (i) the BOARD "revisiting" its decision to adopt Dominion voting equipment; (ii) the definitive decision to "stand by" its prior adoption of Dominion voting equipment; (iii) the BOARD'S "reconsideration" of the claims against Dominion; and (iv) the "determination" by the BOARD that "99.9% of the claims" against Dominion were false. *Trial Court Docket, Trial Transcript* (*T.d.108*), at 140:24-142:9, 143:12-143:23, 145:14-145:21 & 152:10-156:25.

when they are going to make their decision on the Board's request. And, to review legal options going forward." *Trial Court Docket, Trial Transcript (T.d.108), Exhibits 11, 12 & 36.*³

Then, for the fourth time, the BOARD met in another executive session during a meeting held on March 15, 2021, premised, again, on the declared "purpose of discussing the purchase of property for public purposes." *Trial Court Docket, Trial Transcript (T.d.108), Exhibit 15.* Similar to what occurred at the prior meetings, immediately upon exiting this executive session, the chairman of the BOARD made a public declaration of yet another *fait accompli*, this time declaring that the BOARD was not inclined to revisit the previous decision to recommend to the County Commissioners the purchase of voting equipment from Dominion. *Trial Court Docket, Trial Transcript (T.d.108), Exhibits 15, 16 & 37.*⁴

On May 18, 2021, Appellants LOOK AHEAD AMERICA and MERRY LYNN RINI (a resident of Stark County) commenced this action in the Stark County Common Pleas Court, alleging several violations or threatened violations of the Open Meetings Act (the "OMA") arising from the four meetings held in executive sessions held by the STARK COUNTY BOARD OF ELECTIONS between December 9, 2020, and March 15, 2021. *Trial Court Docket, Complaint (T.d.1)*. The gravamen of the claims was that the members of the BOARD OF ELECTIONS had violated or threatened to violate the Open Meetings Act because the four executive sessions at issue were not conducted or limited to a permissible purpose under R.C.

³ As before, the trial court precluded and the Fifth District affirmed, as irrelevant, any inquiry or cross-examination on such matters, specifically, any line of inquiry concerning this public declaration by the chairman concerning direction the BOARD was issuing. *Trial Court Docket, Trial Transcript (T.d.108), at 159:17-159:22*.

⁴ The trial court expressly precluded and the Fifth District affirmed, as irrelevant, any inquiry or cross-examination on concerning the decision by the BOARD to not revisit its prior decision. *Trial Court Docket, Trial Transcript (T.d.108), at 161:5-161:25.*

121.22(G)(2); stated otherwise, the claims herein maintain that the executive sessions simply concerned "the purchase of property for public purposes" though they were not limited to considering the "premature disclosure of information [that] would give an unfair competitive or bargaining advantage to a person whose personal, private interest is adverse to the general public interest."

In advance of and at trial, the trial court made clear its legal construction of R.C. 121.22(G)(2), *i.e.*, the limiting provision therein did not apply to executive sessions concerning the purpose of property. Initially, during discovery, the trial court issued an *Order Granting Protective Order*, wherein the Court concluded, though without any briefing on the issue by the parties, that the limitation of executive sessions under R.C 121.22(G)(2) to situations when the "premature disclosure of information would give an unfair competitive or bargaining advantage to a person whose personal, private interest is adverse to the general public interest" only applies when a public body is considering "the sale or other disposition of unneeded, obsolete, or unfit-for-use property in accordance with section 505.10 of the Revised Code", and that such limitation is not applicable when the public body is considering "the purchase of property for public purposes" or "the sale of property at competitive bidding." *Trial Court Docket, Order Granting Protective Order (T.d.91)*.

Then, on the eve the bench trial, the trial court issued a *Pretrial Order Regarding Scope* of *Executive Sessions Under R.C.* 121.22(G)(2) wherein it, once again, reiterated its construction of R.C. 121.22(G)(2):

The Court disagrees with Plaintiffs' interpretation of [R.C. 121.22(G)(2)] and declines to view the "if clause" as a mandatory prerequisite for executive sessions "to consider the purpose of property for public purposes."...

... [T]his Court also previously applied the rule of the last antecedent as an additional, alternative basis for its decision, and concluded that Plaintiff's interpretation of the statutory language was inconsistent with settled rules of construction....

. .

[T]he Court modifies its previous ruling [in the *Order Granting Protective Order*] and concludes that the "if clause" most likely intends to refer to the sale of property at competitive bidding and to the sale of obsolete property under R.C. 505.10. However, the Court reaffirms its previous decision that the "if clause" was not intended to apply as a mandatory prerequisite to executive sessions to consider the purchase of property.

. . .

[T]he Court rejects Plaintiffs' position and stands by its previous decision regarding the interpretation of Ohio Rev. C. 121.22(G)(2).

Trial Court Docket, Pretrial Order Regarding Scope of Executive Sessions Under R.C. 121.22(G)(2) (T.d.99), at 3, 5, 8, & 13.

After limiting the presentation of evidence consistent with its construction of R.C. 121.22(G)(2) and at the conclusion of the plaintiffs' case-in-chief, the trial court dismissed the case pursuant to Ohio R. Civ. P. 41(B)(2). In so doing, the trial court again based it upon:

... Plaintiffs claim the statute authorizes executive sessions to consider the purchase of property for public purposes only "if premature disclosure of information would give an unfair competitive or bargaining advantage to a person whose personal, private interest is adverse to the general public interest".... In a pretrial ruling, the Court rejected this argument and found evidence relating to such considerations was irrelevant.

Trial Court Docket, Judgment for Defendants (T.d.104), at 5. Accordingly, and ultimately, the trial court dismissed the case.

On appeal, the Fifth District affirmed the judgment of the trial court. In addressing the scope of permissible executive sessions under R.C. 121.22(G)(2), the Fifth District did not even acknowledge, let alone attempt to apply, specific caselaw concerning the construction or interpretation of the OMA as it relates to the executive sessions. Instead, the Fifth District

summarily declared "the ordinary meaning [of R.C. 121.22(G)(2)] is clear: a public body can enter executive session to discuss the purchase of property without additional qualification." *Look Ahead America v. Stark Cty. Bd. of Elec.*, 2023-Ohio-2494 ¶22. And, then, to offer itself solace in its summary conclusion which was bereft of any substantive legal analysis, the Fifth District declared that "[a]n examination of how this would work in practice further supports [its] conclusion," *id.*, though then, in a *non sequitur*, it offered a scenario wherein the premature disclosure of information would actually give an unfair competitive or bargaining advantage to a person whose personal, private interest is adverse to the general public interest. *Id.* ¶23.⁵

A timely appeal was taken to this Court from the judgment of the Fifth District. This Court accepted jurisdiction on the proposition of law set forth and addressed below. 11/07/2023 Case Announcements, 2023-Ohio-3952.

What the Fifth District failed to consider or put to its test of how its interpretation would work in practice was a specific scenario that Appellants offered in order to demonstrate the absurdity that results from the construction which the Fifth District just adopted. In their appellate brief to the Fifth District, Appellants posited that the interpretation of R.C. 121.22(G)(2) which the trial court applied (and which the Fifth District ultimately adopted) "does not advance the purpose of the OMA; instead, it promotes the conducting of public business behind closed doors." Court of Appeals Docket, Appellants' Brief, at 18. To demonstrate this, Appellants offered the simple proposition that, under such a construction, "if a public body is considering the simple act of purchasing a copier (or even a single pencil) from the local office supply store, the trial court would allow members of the public body to convene in executive session to discuss such a simple and uneventful purchase, even though no public interest is being served, advance, or protected by allowing such private consideration of public business." Court of Appeals Docket, Appellants' Brief, at 18 n.12. When this scenario is applied to the Fifth District methodology of examining how its construction of R.C. 121.22(G)(2) "would work in practice", the result does not support the Fifth District's construction but, instead, demonstrates the absurdity of such a construction.

II. ARGUMENT

<u>PROPOSITION OF LAW</u>: Under R.C. 121.22(G)(2), members of a public body may meet in an executive session to consider "the purchase of property for a public purpose" but, then, only to consider information the premature disclosure of which would give an unfair competitive or bargaining advantage to a person whose personal, private interest is adverse to the general public interest.

The Fifth District committed reversible error in its construction of the OMA by upholding the trial court's legal conclusion that executive sessions held by public bodies for the purpose of considering the purchase of property for public purposes are not subject to any further limitation, including the limitation expressly stated in R.C. 121.22(G)(2), *i.e.*, if "the premature disclosure of information would give an unfair competitive or bargaining advantage to a person whose personal, private interest is adverse to the general public interest." See Look Ahead America v. Stark Cty. Bd. of Elec., 2023-Ohio-2494 ¶22 (5th Dist.)("a public body can enter executive session to discuss the purchase of property without additional qualification").

The trial court construed the foregoing limitation so as to rule, as a matter of law, that the express statutory limitation does not apply to executive sessions convened under the rubric of "the purchase of property for a public purpose". *Trial Court Docket, Pretrial Order Regarding Scope of Executive Sessions Under R.C. 121.22(G)(2) (T.d.99), at 3 ("[t]he Court disagrees with Plaintiffs' interpretation of the statute and declines to view the 'if clause" as a mandatory prerequisite for executive sessions 'to consider the purchase of property for public purposes'"); <i>Trial Court Docket, Judgment for Defendants (T.d.104), at 5-7.* Premised upon its erroneous

⁶ Though not exclusively, this was the heart of the entire case brought by Appellants.

Even under its construction of the OMA, the trial court took contradictory and conflicting positions as to whether the limitation applied only to the last of the three matters, *i.e.*, the sale or other disposition of property under R.C. 505.10, or whether it also applied to the second matter,

construction of the OMA, the trial court proceeded to conduct the bench trial, limiting inquiry only to whether the BOARD MEMBERS "properly convened executive sessions" (which was not even the basis of Appellants' claims); Appellants, thus, were precluded by the trial court from developing any evidence that there was no information the premature disclosure of which would afford an unfair competitive or bargaining advantage to a person whose personal, private interest was adverse to the general public interest.

In this Court's *de novo* review of such legal conclusion, it must proceed with a full appreciation that "[a] court's 'paramount concern' when construing a statute is the statute's legislative intent and courts should avoid adopting a construction of a statute that would result in circumventing the evident purpose of the enactment." *State ex rel. Young v. Bd. of Ed.*, 2013-Ohio-1111 ¶23 (12th Dist.). In this appeal, three interrelated considerations demonstrate the reversible error of the trial court and the Fifth District in their construction of R.C. 121.22(G)(2): (i) rules of statutory construction, specifically, both the last-antecedent canon and the series-qualifer canon; (ii) the legislative history of R.C. 121.22(G)(2); and (iii) binding precedent from this Court on interpreting the OMA. The ultimate conclusion that this Court should readily reach is that executive sessions conducted under R.C 121.22(G)(2) – to consider the purchase of property, the sale of property, or the sale or disposition of property under R.C. 505.10 – are all

_

i.e., the sale of property at competitive bidding. Compare Trial Court Docket, Order Granting Protective Order (T.d.91), at 11-13 (concluding the restrictive phrase in R.C. 121.22(G)(2) applies only to executive sessions considering "the sale or other disposition of unneeded, obsolete, or unfit-for-use property in accordance with section 505.10 of the Revised Code") with Trial Court Docket, Pretrial Order Regarding Scope of Executive Sessions Under R.C. 121.22(G)(2) (T.d.99), at 8 ("the Court modifies its previous ruling and concludes the 'if clause' most likely intends to refer to the sale of property at competitive bidding and to the sale of obsolete property under R.C. 505.10").

limited those situations only when the public body is considering information the premature disclosure of which would give an unfair competitive or bargaining advantage to a person whose personal, private interest is adverse to the general public interest.

For ease of the ensuing argument in the context of this case, the language of R.C. 121.22(G)(2) can readily be converted to a simplified mathematical proposition such that, pursuant to that division of the OMA, the members of a public body may conduct a meeting in executive sessions to consider "A, B, or C, if X". And, in this simplified form, the question before this Court thus becomes whether, as a matter of law, X limits solely C or does X limit A, B, and C; the answer is clearly the latter.

A. Rules of Statutory Construction.

Initially, the trial court wrongfully concluded that X applied to C but not to A or B based upon what it characterized as the rule of the last antecedent. Trial Court Docket, Order Granting Protective Order (T.d.91), at 11. Subsequently, the trial court modified its earlier conclusion while but still erring, concluding that X "most likely" applies to both B and C, but still definitively not to A. Trial Court Docket, Pretrial Order Regarding Scope of Executive Sessions Under $R.C.\ 121.22(G)(2)\ (T.d.99)$, at B. Regardless, both constructions by the trial court were in

Naturally, using the format that an executive session under R.C. 121.22(G)(2) may be conducted to consider "A, B, or C, if X", the following correspondence exists:

A = "the purchase of property for public purposes".

B = "the sale of property at competitive bidding"

C = "the sale or other disposition of unneeded, obsolete, or unfit-for-use property in accordance with section 505.10 of the Revised Code"

X = "the premature disclosure of information would give an unfair competitive or bargaining advantage to a person whose personal, private interest is adverse to the general public interest"

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