IN THE SUPREME COURT OF OHIO

LOOK AHEAD AMERICA, et al.,) Case No. Case No. 2023-1059
Appellants,)
) On Appeal from the
v.) Fifth District Court of Appeals
) Stark County, Ohio
STARK COUNTY BOARD OF) Case No. 2022-CA-00152
ELECTIONS, et al.,)
)
Appellees.)

MERIT BRIEF OF APPELLEES STARK COUNTY BOARD OF ELECTIONS, ET AL.

KYLE L. STONE, (0095140) PROSECUTING ATTORNEY STARK COUNTY, OHIO

By:

Lisa A. Nemes (0083656)
Appellate Division Chief
Deborah A. Dawson (0021580)
Civil Division Chief
John Lysenko (0071447)
Assistant Prosecuting Attorney
110 Central Plaza South Ste. 510
Canton, Ohio 44702-1413
(330) 451-7897; (330) 451-7965 (Fax)
LANemes@starkcountyohio.gov
Counsel for Appellees

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

ARGUMENT

Response to Proposition of Law No. 1

Under R.C. 121.22(G)(2), the ability of members of a public body to meet in an executive session to consider "the purchase of property for a public purpose" is not limited only to the discussion of, or circumstances where the public body has determined prior to entering executive session, "the premature disclosure information would give an unfair competitive or bargaining advantage to a person whose personal, private interest is adverse to the general public interest."

Both the trial court and the appellate court below ruled that the premature disclosure clause does not apply to the purchase of property, and that remains the Board's position as well. Upon following the procedural requirements outlined in the OMA, a public body may discuss certain subject matter privately in an executive session. *State ex rel. Huth v. Village of Bolivar*, 5th Dist. Tuscarawas No. 2018 AP 03 0013, 2018-Ohio-3460, ¶ 29, citing *Tobacco Use Prevention & Control Found. Bd. of Trustees v. Boyce*, 185 Ohio App.3d 707, 2009-Ohio-6993, 925 N.E.2d 641, ¶ 64 (10th Dist.). The exception at issue in this appeal is R.C. 121.22(G)(2).

Look Ahead argues for the application of the premature disclosure clause of R.C. 121.22(G)(2) to a public body's consideration of the purchase of property for a public purpose. To begin, the Board contends that is not a proper reading of the statute. Moreover, as noted in the introduction section, Look Ahead fails to consider how, exactly, that application would affect a public body's ability to go into executive session to discuss the purchase of property for a public purpose. Look Ahead's objective is to weaponize R.C. 121.22(G)(2) by interpreting it in any manner that might support their contention that the Board must have committed some violation of the OMA. But the clause is neither a prerequisite for entering executive session to discuss the purchase of property for a public purpose, nor a limit on a public body's ability to discuss the purchase of property for a public purpose in a properly convened executive session.

This proposition of law calls upon the Court to interpret a statute; a question of law, which the Court reviews de novo. *See Columbus Bituminous Concrete Corp. v. Harrison Twp. Bd. of Zoning Appeals*, 160 Ohio St.3d 279, 2020-Ohio-845, 156 N.E.3d 841, ¶ 19. The Court first endeavors to "determine legislative intent from the plain language of a statute." *State v. Vanzandt*, 142 Ohio St.3d 223, 2015-Ohio-236, 28 N.E.3d 1267, ¶ 7.

The OMA "requires public bodies in Ohio to conduct all deliberations on official business in meetings that are open to the public. And the OMA states that it "shall be liberally construed" to meet that end." *State ex rel. Hicks v. Clermont Cnty. Bd. of Commrs.*, 2022-Ohio-4237, ___ N.E.3d ___, ¶ 40. However, a liberal construction of the OMA, does not permit Look Ahead to add language into the statute to manufacture a new basis for claiming a violation. *State v. Jeffries*, 160 Ohio St.3d 300, 2020-Ohio-1539, 156 N.E.3d 859, ¶ 18 (stating that courts have a "clear duty not to alter the language of a statute by adding or removing words."); *Hicks* at ¶ 12.

I. The language of R.C. 121.22(G)(2) cannot support Look Ahead's proposed interpretation.

R.C. 121.22(G)(2) is not ambiguous: the plain language does not require that the "premature disclosure" clause apply to the purchase of property for a public purpose.

The language of R.C. 121.22(G)(2) plainly permits a public body to enter executive session to consider the purchase of public property without prerequisites or additional requirements. When a statute is not ambiguous, a court must abide by the words employed by the legislature rather than resorting to application of the rules of statutory construction. *State ex rel. Clay v. Cuyahoga Cty. Med. Examiner's Office*, 152 Ohio St.3d 163, 2017-Ohio-8714, ¶ 15, citing *State v. Waddell*, 71 Ohio St.3d 630, 631 (1995), *Hulsmeyer v. Hospice of Southwest Ohio, Inc.*, 142 Ohio St.3d 236, 2014-Ohio-5511, ¶ 22–23. Courts "'do not have the authority to dig deeper than the plain meaning of an unambiguous statute under the guise of either statutory interpretation or liberal construction." "*Clay*, quoting *Jacobson v. Kaforey*, 149 Ohio St.3d 398, 2016-Ohio-8434, ¶ 8,

quoting *Morgan v. Adult Parole Auth.*, 68 Ohio St.3d 344, 347 (1994). To be ambiguous, a statutory provision must be "*capable*" of bearing more than one meaning. (Emphasis added.) *Clay* at ¶ 17, quoting *Dunbar v. State*, 136 Ohio St.3d 181, 2013-Ohio-2163, ¶ 16. R.C. 121.22(G)(2) is not capable of bearing the meaning Look Ahead proposes, because construing it in that manner would produce an unworkable result.

R.C. 121.22(G)(2) a public body may hold an executive session to:

consider the purchase of property for public purposes, the sale of property at competitive bidding, or the sale or other disposition of unneeded, obsolete, or unfit-for-use property in accordance with section 505.10 of the Revised Code, if premature disclosure of information would give an unfair competitive or bargaining advantage to a person whose personal, private interest is adverse to the general public interest.

The language of the statute supports a reading that allows a public body to hold an executive session to consider the purchase of property without additional qualification. The premature disclosure clause, originally related only to the sale of property at competitive bidding, now also relates to the sale or other disposition of unneeded, obsolete, or unfit-for-use property in accordance with R.C. 505.10.² But, even as the clause applies to those topics, it does not place any requirements on a public body to determine the existence of such information before entering executive session. Nor does it require a public body to limit its discussion of the sale or disposition of property solely to information described in the premature disclosure clause.

The reasonableness of the Board's position is supported by the long-standing application of the statute. Public bodies throughout the state of Ohio have relied on the unvarying reading of R.C. 121.22(G)(2), which requires only that a public body consider the purchase of public property

14

² Look Ahead acknowledges this reading of R.C. 121.22(G)(2) but, ironically, dismisses it as a logical or rational conclusion based upon a canon of statutory construction that, as is discussed later in this brief, would not apply.

for a public purpose during executive session. For example, the 2022 Sunshine Laws Manual is published by the Ohio Attorney General, whose office "is tasked with providing Sunshine Laws training to Ohio's public officials." Judgment for Defendants, p. 6; R.C. 109.43; Ohio Attorney General Dave Yost, Ohio Sunshine Laws 2022: An Open Government Resource Manual, https://www.ohioattorneygeneral.gov/Files/Publications-Files/Publications-for-Legal/Sunshine-Laws-Publications/2022-Sunshine-Manual.aspx (accessed Feb. 19, 2023). The Sunshine Laws Manual states, without condition, that "[a] public body may adjourn into executive session to consider the purchase of property of any sort – real, personal, tangible, or intangible." Sunshine Laws Manual at p. 120. By contrast, it states that "[a] public body may also adjourn into executive session to consider the sale of real or personal property by competitive bid, or the sale or disposition of unneeded, obsolete, or unfit property under R.C. 505.10, if disclosure of the information would result in a competitive advantage to the person whose personal, private interest is adverse to the general public interest." (Emphasis added.) Id. Hence, as our Attorney General instructs public bodies, the premature disclosure clause applies to the sale or disposition of property. It does not apply to the purchase of property.

Additionally, regarding when executive session may be held to consider the purchase or sale of public property, the Ohio Administrative Law Handbook and Agency Directory published by the Ohio State Bar Association Administrative Law Committee explains: "A public body may move into executive session to consider the purchase of property for public purposes." Oh. Admin. Law., When executive sessions may be held, § 8:22 (2022-2023 ed.). The publication does not attach the premature disclosure clause to the purchase of property. Compare that to the handbook's explanation of the sale of property: "It may also move into executive session to discuss the sale of property by competitive bid "if premature disclosure of information would give an unfair

competitive or bargaining advantage to a person whose personal, private interest is adverse to the general public interest." *Id*.

The Board is unaware of any binding legal authority interpreting the premature disclosure clause to apply to the purchase of property; it is not a reasonable or acceptable interpretation of R.C. 121.22(G)(2). In *University Estates*, the federal district court case Look Ahead cites in their merit brief, the court did not purport to interpret the language of R.C. 121.22(G)(2). *See Univ. Estates, Inc. v. City of Athens, Ohio*, S.D.Ohio No. 2:09-CV-758, 2011 WL 796789, *2. Without considering *whether* the premature disclosure clause limited a public body's discussion of the purchase of property for a public purpose, the court proceeded under the assumption that it was a condition precedent. *Id.* In citing to this non-binding federal case law, Look Ahead conveniently omits that from their merit brief, and also fails to mention the holding in *University Estates*: the court explicitly rejected the argument that the public body was required to "state that its purpose was to avoid premature disclosure in the context described," and "to disclose the detailed nature of the purpose to be considered," in order "to go into a proper executive session." *Id.*

University Estates stated that nowhere in R.C. 121.22 "or in case law interpreting that statute is there an express requirement that [a public body] not only set forth the reason for an executive session using the magic words of the applicable statutory provision involved, but also state the condition precedent serving as justification for the closed proceeding." *Id.* The court recognized that, while R.C. 121.22 requires a public body to specifically state the purpose for entering executive session, the statute does not require the public body to divulge the specific nature of the matter to be considered. *Id.* citing *In re Removal of Kuehnle*, 161 Ohio App.3d 399, 2005-Ohio-2373, 830 N.E.2d 1173, ¶ 93 (12th Dist.). And the court concluded the public body's motion, which publicly "stated that the executive session would include the topic of 'Real Estate

Acquisition," was effective to satisfy the requirement to enter into executive session "[t]o consider the purchase of property for public purposes" under R.C. 121.22(G)(2). *Id.* Look Ahead also refrains from referencing the conclusion that, "[b]ecause city council properly went into executive session, the contents of those sessions remain confidential." *Id.*

The trial court reasoned that, if the premature disclosure clause applied to the purchase of property, "it is so vague and unworkable as to be unenforceable in this context." *Pretrial Order* (T.d. 99) at 11, citing *Fed. Election Comm. v. Wisconsin Right To Life, Inc.*, 551 U.S. 449, 503, 127 S.Ct. 2652 (2007). The trial court pointed out the practical impossibility of applying the clause because the statute provides no guidance on what constitutes "premature disclosure," what type of "information" would trigger the clause, or what type of "bargaining advantage" is contemplated. *Id.* at 11. Further, the statute gives no indication as to who determines whether a person's "personal, private interest is adverse to the general public interest," when that determination should be made, nor how to ascertain whether the criteria was met. *Id.* Look Ahead has not identified any legal authority that would resolve the glaring issues presented by their proposed interpretation.

And the appellate court below held that "when reading subsection (G)(2), the ordinary meaning is clear: a public body can enter executive session to discuss the purchase of property without additional qualification." *Look Ahead America*, 2023-Ohio-249, at ¶ 22. Demonstrating the reasonableness of such a reading in the face of the absurdity of Look Ahead's position, the court provided an "examination of how this would work in practice" to support its conclusion. *Id*. The court considered a scenario where a public body is seeking to purchase property, and then compared and contrasted it with a public entity selling or disposing of property. *Id*. at ¶ 23-25.

Look Ahead asks the Court to engage in algebraic gymnastics to avoid the plain meaning of the statute. "[I]t is the duty of the courts, if the language of a statute fairly permits or unless

restrained by the clear language thereof, so to construe the statute as to avoid [an unreasonable or absurd] result." *State v. Herrick*, 11th Dist. Geauga No. 2018-G-0161, 2019-Ohio-5047, 137 N.E.3d 1262, ¶ 12, quoting *State ex rel. Cooper v. Savord*, 153 Ohio St. 367, 92 N.E.2d 390 (1950), paragraph one of the syllabus. The "absurd-result exception" provides that an interpretation of a statute that would produce an absurd result must be avoided if an alternative interpretation consistent with the legislative purpose is available. *Herrick*, quoting *Lawson v. FMR*, *L.L.C.*, 571 U.S. 429, 471, 134 S.Ct. 1158 (2014) (Sotomayor, J., dissenting). The statute cannot be construed to produce an absurd result.

To reach its desired interpretation, Look Ahead's proposition of law includes the words "but, then, only" in place of "if." Look Ahead also contends the statute should be read to include the words "but if and only if." Aplt. Br. at 19. Look Ahead asks the Court to alter the language of R.C. 121.22(G)(2) such that a public body can hold executive session to consider "the purchase of property for public purposes [but if any only if to consider information such that the disclosure of that information in public would give an unfair competitive or bargaining advantage to a person whose personal, private interest is adverse to the general public interest." But, "a statute is ambiguous when its language is subject to more than one reasonable interpretation." (Emphasis added.) Clark v. Scarpelli, 91 Ohio St.3d 271, 274, 744 N.E.2d 719 (2001). Lang v. Dir., Ohio Dept. of Job & Family Servs., 134 Ohio St.3d 296, 2012-Ohio-5366, 982 N.E.2d 636, ¶ 14. And a court may not "insert language to modify an unambiguous statute under the guise of statutory interpretation." State ex rel. Cable News Network, Inc. v. Bellbrook-Sugarcreek Local Schools, 163 Ohio St.3d 314, 2020-Ohio-5149, 170 N.E.3d 748, ¶ 11; State ex rel. Sears, Roebuck & Co. v. Indus. Comm., 52 Ohio St.3d 144, 148, 556 N.E.2d 467 (1990). Look Ahead's proposition is simply *not* what the statute says and is *not* a reasonable interpretation of the meaning of the statute.

If this Court finds ambiguity requiring a deeper analysis, the rules of statutory construction do not support Look Ahead's interpretation of R.C. 121.22(G)(2).

Having found that the language of the statute was sufficient to determine its meaning, the appellate court found it unnecessary to resort to application of the rules of statutory construction. *See Clay*, 2017-Ohio-8714, ¶ 15. Yet, even if this Court finds the language to be subject to interpretation, Look Ahead's arguments are unavailing.

The legislative history of R.C. 121.22 shows that, prior to the legislature's 2016 amendment to the OMA, R.C. 121.22(G)(2) permitted a public body to enter executive session to "consider the purchase of property for public purposes, <u>or</u> for the sale of property at competitive bidding, if premature disclosure of information would give an unfair competitive or bargaining advantage to a person whose personal, private interest is adverse to the general public interest." (Emphasis added.) This reflects that the premature disclosure clause was intended to apply to the *sale of property at competitive bidding*, not to the tpurchase of property. The 2016 amendment altered section (G)(2) to add "or the sale or other disposition of unneeded, obsolete, or unfit-foruse property in accordance with [R.C. 505.10.]" Sub. H.B. No. 413, 2016 Ohio Laws File 119. The inclusion of the additional phrase did not alter the statute in any way that would make the premature disclosure clause applicable to the purchase of property.

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